

Evaluating the Engagement of Seldom Heard Groups in Commissioning Health Services

Angela Tod, Clare de Normanville, Alex McClimens, Mubarak Ismail Centre for Health and Social Care Research, Faculty of Health and Wellbeing, Sheffield Hallam University





Disclaimer: Whilst every effort has been made to ensure that the information contained within this publication is accurate and up-to-date, neither the authors nor publisher can accept legal responsibility or liability for anything done by readers in consequence of errors or omissions.

EVALUATING THE ENGAGEMENT OF SELDOM HEARD GROUPS IN COMMISSIONING HEALTH SERVICES

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report presents the findings of an evaluation of public engagement (PE) conducted by NHS Sheffield (formally known as Sheffield Primary Care Trust, and referred to in this report as the PCT). The focus of the evaluation was on engagement with "harder to reach" or "seldom heard" communities to inform the World Class Commissioning decisions made by the PCT (Department of Health, 2007). The evaluation took place between December 2008 and August 2009 and was conducted by a small team at Sheffield Hallam University.

With World Class Commissioning the obligation for the PCT to engage with the public and health service users, and to be equitable in this activity, came together under a banner of commissioning (Department of Health, 2007). This is aligned with a commitment to the involvement of citizens in order to drive up the efficiency or effectiveness of services, improve health and meet personalisation and patient-centred care targets. (Department of Health 2006, 2008).

Nationally the status and nature of public engagement has increased. However, PCTs are struggling with engagement of seldom heard groups, and demonstrating how public engagement impacts upon commissioning decisions (Picker, 2009).

AIM

To evaluate the level and nature of current public engagement regarding commissioning and develop recommendations based on the views of seldom heard groups (SHGs).

A number of groups and communities were selected by the PCT to be the focus of this project.

- Older people and also people with:
- Sensory impairment (Visual and Hearing)
- Motor/mobility difficulties
- Cognitive and learning difficulties
- Mental health problems
- A first language other than English

DESIGN

The project adopted a pluralistic approach and comprised six overlapping data collection approaches. These were mainly qualitative in nature.

- 1. An ongoing literature review to inform the emerging findings (December 2008-August 2009).
- 2. A consultation with voluntary and community groups (January May 2009).
- 3. Observation of public engagement events and consultations held by NHS Sheffield (December 2008 May 2009).
- 4. A small consultation with volunteers working with the PCT (June July 2009).
- 5. A "critical friends" meeting with representatives from voluntary, local community and lay organisations working with NHS Sheffield (June 2009).
- 6. A telephone consultation with NHS Sheffield staff (June August 2009).

FINDINGS

It is resoundingly clear that NHS Sheffield is ahead of the game in terms of public engagement when looking at the national picture (The Picker Institute 2009). Ongoing challenges include overcoming the legacy of previous unsuccessful public engagement activity, cultural barriers and partnership working across public and community settings. Progress is already being made by NHS Sheffield in addressing these.

Six themes emerged as key to a successful public engagement culture; credibility, consultation, collaboration, capacity, communication and commissioning. The findings are summarised using these themes.

It had been the initial intention to map the themes generated by this evaluation to the elements of the Department of Health's recently published engagement cycle (2009). However, following the analysis of participant's views and experience an alternative approach has been taken. The six themes listed above apply throughout the cycle of World Class Commissioning. Instead it is suggested here that they are the core elements of a successful engagement culture and should underpin the systems to support engagement, especially with SHGs.

CREDIBILITY

NHS Sheffield was seen to be more transparent and open with a genuine desire to develop new and improved methods of engaging with the communities they served. The new website, the continually growing and diverse volunteer programme and the Introduction to Community Development and Health training course were cited as successful initiatives that support PE.

However, participants suggested that past mistakes were recognised, addressed and processes were in place to ensure they were not repeated. If this was not done, it would compromise engagement with SHGs.

CONSULTATION VS CREATIVITY

"Consultation overload" was identified as a concern and a call made for an increase in participative and process driven methods of PE. Participants reported a lack of skills and confidence in some SHGs to participate in consultation based PE activity due to the pressure of living with the underlying condition, and its health and social consequences. More participative methods of PE were required to develop and empower communities and the individuals within them.

There was recognition within the PCT that there is no one way of conducting PE, especially with SHGs. This evaluation supported the use of more participatory PE methods. Strategies to do this include capacity building initiatives (e.g. storytelling and community reporters), joint planning and facilitation with communities, process rather than "one-off" PE approaches and judicious use of the Internet.

COLLABORATION

The findings indicate the potential for more collaborative working to facilitate PE with SHGs. Internal collaboration was improving and the PCT is being more pro-active in identifying expertise and knowledge from across the organisation.

The recommended move towards more participative methods of PE means PE can be regarded more as a participatory process allowing opportunities for partnership and collaboration. Community and voluntary groups may be trusted by people from SHGs, have extensive networks with individuals within the communities, and have insight and access denied to PCT staff. Participants recommended the PCT explores ways to work more collaboratively, with community organisations in planning and running PE activity and the possibility of contracting out aspects of PE work to community organisations.

CAPACITY

The findings indicate that capacity of the organisation and communities themselves impact upon the ability of NHS Sheffield to engage with SHGs. There was potential to build organisational capacity by identifying where the expertise is available in the organisation. Where necessary skills are not available from within the organisation there is potential to develop partnerships and knowledge transfer schemes with external organisations, for example in developing knowledge management systems to support PE. Increased joint working across Local Authority and

community organisations can also build capacity, including joint posts, secondments and work placements.

More participatory methods of PE such as storytelling, do offer a way of developing capacity within communities as well as generating information.

COMMUNICATION AND CULTURE

The evaluation indicates that new ways of communicating with the public are required to facilitate PE with SHGs. Whilst the Internet is a valuable resource, caution is needed to avoid over reliance. Participants recommended that, to be successful, PE has to work from within a culture, rather then "parachuting in" requiring the development of closer collaborations and partnerships, and in developing capacity within communities and working in more equal partnership in developing and delivering participative methods of engagement.

CREATIVE COMMISSIONING

Participants suggested a number of strategies to promote involvement of SHGs in PE that relate to commissioning decisions and activity. They include:

- Commissioning the development, implementation and evaluation of new, creative methods of engagement that may be delivered by external organisations with participative expertise.
 Examples include story-telling and community reporters' schemes, and
- ii. Commissioning out PE work to groups with good networks and established trusting relationships with SHGs and communities that are hard for the PCT to reach
- iii. Scoping the nature of Service Level Agreements already held between NHS Sheffield and voluntary/community groups and local charities and explore the potential to expand their monitoring requirement to include generating patient experience data to inform PE.

RECOMMENDATIONS

APPROACH

- 1. Continue the development of Public Engagement (PE) approaches that recognise past mistakes and builds processes to ensure they are not repeated
- 2. Develop participative methods of PE that generate information for NHS Sheffield whilst developing the skills and capacity of those from Seldom Heard Groups (SHGs). Implement

- joint planning and facilitation of PE events with representatives from the community and related organisations.
- 3. Develop methods of real-time engagement as close to health and social care service delivery as possible.
- 4. Adopt a social model of PE, rather than medical, to generate genuine engagement with SHGs.
- 5. Adopt approaches that consider PE as a process and avoid "one-off" consultations where possible.
- 6. Balance the use of Web 2.0 tools with other forms of PE activity to ensure all sectors of the community are not excluded owing to lack of intranet access etc.

SKILLS

- 7. Scope the expertise and skills required to plan and conduct participative and community development approaches to PE in SHGs, identifying where the expertise is available from within NHS Sheffield.
- 8. Develop ways to work more systematically across departments within NHS Sheffield that have the skills and knowledge to support PE.
- 9. Develop partnerships and knowledge transfer schemes with external organisations, where the necessary skills are not available from within the NHS Sheffield

COLLABORATION

- 10. Develop a strategy to formalise the links between volunteering and PE.
- 11. Explore the potential for joint working across NHS Sheffield, Local Authority and community organisations, including joint posts, secondments and work placements.
- 12. Develop better knowledge management systems to collate and disseminate learning from PE.

COMMISSIONING

13. Consider the suggestions made by participants related to commissioning decisions and activity.

REFERENCES

Department of Health (2009) *The engagement cycle: a new way of thinking about patient and public engagement (PPE) in world class commissioning.* [Online] http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/
DH 098658. Last accessed August 2009.

Department of Health (2008a) High Quality Care for All. Department of Health. London.

Department of Health (2007) World Class Commissioning: Vision. Department of Health. London.

Department of Health (2006) *Our Health Our Care Our Say: a new direction for community services*. Department of Health. London.

Picker. (2009) *Patient and public engagement – the early impact of World Class Commissioning*. [Online] at http://www.pickereurope.org Last accessed June 2009

CONTENTS

Executive Summary
Introduction 1
World Class Commissioning
Public engagement2
Public engagement with "seldom heard groups"
Aim and methods 1
Aim
Design
Findings 12
Credibility 13
Consultation vs creativity 14
Collaboration 16
Capacity 18
Communication and Culture
Creative commissioning21
Recommendations23
Approach 23
Skills
Collaboration 23
Commissioning24
References
Bibliography 27
APPENDICES 31
Appendix 1 Topic Guide for consultation with voluntary/community groups
Appendix 2: Checklist of issues to consider when observing a PCT consultation event 34

INTRODUCTION

This report presents the findings of an evaluation of public engagement conducted by NHS Sheffield (formally known as Sheffield Primary Care Trust, and referred to in this report as the PCT). The focus of the evaluation was on engagement with "harder to reach" or "seldom heard" communities to inform the World Class Commissioning decisions made by the PCT (Department of Health, 2007).

The evaluation took place between December 2008 and August 2009 and was conducted by a small team at Sheffield Hallam University. This World Class Commissioning (WCC) evaluation is the last in a collection of studies. Whilst this evaluation concentrated on public engagement with "seldom heard groups", the other components of the collection are:

- An evaluation of speech enabling software for use on the newly designed NHS Sheffield website.
- An evaluation of the new NHS Sheffield website.
- An evaluation of the use and potential of Web 2.0 tools to promote public engagement with seldom heard groups.

This work also complements the "Toolkit for engaging seldom heard groups" that was commissioned by NHS Sheffield in 2009 (Morris, 2009). The "Toolkit" lays out some basic principles of engagement and gives practical tips to NHS staff and organisations on how to engage the public and seldom-heard communities.

NHS Sheffield has already done a considerable amount of work in engaging seldom heard groups in commissioning local health services. They have a well established strategy for public and patient involvement, and representation and endorsement at an executive board level. This development is taking place at a time where there is an emphasis on public engagement in the NHS Constitution and key policy documents including Our Health Our Care Our Say (Department of Health 2006) and High Quality Care for All (Department of Health 2008a).

WORLD CLASS COMMISSIONING

With World Class Commissioning the obligation to engage with the public and health service users, and to be equitable in this activity, came together under a banner of commissioning.

The vision for World Class Commissioning (WCC) was first launched in 2007 (Department of Health, 2007). This policy defined WCC as:

"... a statement of intent, designed to raise ambitions for a new form of commissioning that has not yet been developed or implemented in a comprehensive way across any of the developed healthcare economies."

Competency Three of WCC states that:

"PCTs are responsible through the commissioning process for investing public funds on behalf of their patients & communities. In order to make commissioning decisions that reflect the needs, priorities & aspirations of the local population, PCTs will have to engage the public in a variety of ways, openly & honestly. They will need to be proactive in seeking out the views & experience of the public, patients, their carers & other stakeholders, especially those least able to advocate for themselves." (Department of Health, 2008b)

Patient and public engagement is part of other competencies such as working with community partners (Competency Two) and leading the local NHS (Competency One).

It is now essential for PCTs such as NHS Sheffield to:

"fully engage and involve patients and the public as citizens in a dialogue about health needs, strategic planning, service design and decision making and communicate with them to increase understanding and confidence in using local services." (Department of Health, 2009)

This policy is built on a belief that:

"effective community-led commissioning can empower individuals and communities by giving them the chance to voice their needs, while local ownership of the process will increase the relevance of services, and improve their uptake and sustainability. For commissioners, the 'World Class' commissioning agenda is about connecting development of services with the real requirements of communities, and increasing engagement and satisfaction with services". (Kramer, 2008).

The Picker Institute (2009) have recently conducted a national survey to evaluate the early impact of the WCC framework on patient and public engagement in commissioning. It revealed that in most PCTs, WCC has driven a change in organisational culture, and increased the status and nature of public engagement. PCTs are working more strategically and systematically, with public engagement being seen as a "must-do". However, the report found that nationally, PCTs are over-reliant on public meetings and traditional consultation methods; are struggling to adopt more successful and participatory methods of engagement of seldom heard groups, and finding it difficult to demonstrate how public engagement impacts upon commissioning decisions (Picker, 2009).

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT

Public participation in services has a long, if rather chequered, history stretching back over at least thirty years. In that time, the politics of participation have changed complexion and become more challenging. In the health context this has meant regarding patients and service users less as passive recipients of services and more as experts by experience. Recognising patients and

service users in this way has implications for the legitimacy of different sources of knowledge, the pooling of that knowledge, and the management of power relations, not only in patient-professional relationships, but also in the arrangements for commissioning, managing and reviewing health services.

There is a considerable literature and body of evidence about the successes and challenges of different kinds of national and local initiatives designed to secure the engagement of patients and service users, including some of the more seldom heard groups (examples include Richardson, 1983; Felce and Grant et al. 1998; Doel et al. 2007; Farrell, 2004; National Association for Patient Public Participation and NHS Alliance, 2006). Despite this, the concept of public engagement and involvement are poorly defined and understood (Waite & Nolte, 2006). The terms public engagement, involvement, participation and consultation are commonly confused or used synonymously.

Much of the published literature concerns the processes of engagement and an emphasis on being as participative as possible. There are many methods of engagement to draw on, depending on the aim and purpose of the activity. However, overall, there is a move towards more participative methods of engagement, rather than consultation and feedback (Blakey, 2005; Entwistle, 2009).

There have been different drivers propelling public participation, ranging from those that seek to secure the involvement of citizens in order to drive up the efficiency or effectiveness of services, to those that are designed to change the way services are configured and delivered so that they improve those health outcomes that patients and service user's desire. The present commitment to patient engagement is one that fits neatly with the latter and reflects a current policy commitment to personalisation and patient-centred care. (Department of Health 2006, 2008).

PATIENT AND PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT CYCLE

During the course of the evaluation reported here, the Department of Health commissioned *In*Health Associates to develop a tool to support NHS organisations in public engagement in World Class Commissioning. The Engagement Cycle and its purpose is summarised in Box 1.

BOX 1. THE ENGAGEMENT CYCLE

- The engagement cycle is a way of approaching Patient and Public Engagement (PPE) in World Class Commissioning.
- It is a representational model that highlights who needs to do what to engage patients and the public at each stage of the commissioning cycle.
- It can be used to facilitate improvements in World Class Commissioning, particularly concerning Competency Three engaging with patients and the public.
- The engagement cycle is not a toolkit, but a starting point for thinking about PPE in commissioning. It provides checklists for action and will be developed to include links to policy documents, case studies, toolkits and other materials.
- It has been used so far to undertake assessments of who is doing what at each stage of the cycle, to help develop action plans, identify learning and support needs and as a basis for PPE strategies and organisational development plans.



(From: Department of Health 2009)

SYSTEMS AND PROCESSES

The Engagement Cycle was developed following an extensive consultation with NHS organisations and commissioners. During the consultation the key systems and processes required to ensure engagement was embedded throughout the organisation were highlighted. They are as follows:

- Senior commitment and leadership that creates a culture of engagement;
- Strategy for engagement stitched into all areas of work;
- Consistent approach to engagement across the organisation;
- Robust mechanisms to capture patient and public-derived data;
- Solid reporting & monitoring systems part of mainstream business;
- Clear roles, responsibilities and accountabilities;
- Adequate resources and practical support;
- Learning and development for staff and non-staff;
- Underpinned by principles of partnership working;
- Equalities and diversity as a cross-cutting theme.

It is clear from that, from the perspective of participants, NHS Sheffield has made progress and achieved much in terms of implementing and developing the above processes and systems. However, the findings of this evaluation emphasise the importance of NHS Sheffield revisiting these elements *explicitly* with a view to supporting PE with SHGs.

THE ELEMENTS OF THE E-CYCLE

As can be seen from the diagram in Box 1, the elements of the E-cycle are as follows:

STRATEGIC PLANNING:

- Engaging communities to identify health needs and aspirations;
- Engaging public in decisions about priorities;

SPECIFYING OUTCOMES AND PROCURING SERVICES:

- Engaging patients in service design and improvement;
- Patient-centred procurement and contracting;

MANAGING DEMAND AND PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT:

- Capture and use of patient experience data;
- Patient centred monitoring and performance management.

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT WITH "SELDOM HEARD GROUPS"

In terms of public engagement the main focus for policy makers is how to reach and engage communities that have been categorised as "hard to reach" or "seldom heard". The assumption is that by involving communities "in design and delivery of services, including those whose voices have traditionally not been heard, will help to shape services to meet better their health and wellbeing needs" (Kramer, 2008).

NHS organisations have a duty, as laid down in Section 242 of the consolidated NHS Act (2006) to involve and consult patients, carers, the general public and other organisations in planning, developing and delivering services. The NHS Constitution states that the public has the right to be involved, directly or through representatives, in the planning of healthcare services, the development and consideration of proposals for changes in the way those services are provided, and in decisions to be made affecting the operation of those services.

In addition, there is an obligation to ensure this engagement is in line with equality and diversity expectations. For example, in Standards for Better Health (Department of Health 2004) there is an expectation of NHS Trusts that "the views of patients, their carers and others are sought and taken into account in designing, planning, delivering and improving health care services" to ensure that all members of the population are able to access services equally and offer choice in access to services and treatment equitably.

However, engaging service users and communities equitably about diverse health services, when communities themselves are diverse, is a huge challenge (Blake et al, 2008). Again, the recommended models to do this successfully are more creative and participatory in nature (Picker Institute Europe, 2009; Entwistle, 2009; Blake et al, 2008; Pickin et al. 2002).

What follows is an overview of the findings of the evaluation of NHS Sheffield's engagement activity with seldom heard groups. A brief summary of evaluation methods is provided followed by the key findings. The report ends by considering the place of the findings in the newly developed Patient and Public Engagement Cycle (Department of Health, 2009).

AIM AND METHODS

AIM

To evaluate the level and nature of current public engagement regarding commissioning and develop recommendations based on the views of seldom heard groups. Recommendations will be on the level and nature of public engagement in PCT commissioning.

Following consultation with the Patient and Public Involvement (PPI) Team in NHS Sheffield a number of groups and communities were selected to be the focus of this project. These were amongst the communities that the PCT wanted develop and improve their dialogue and engagement work with. These groups were:

- Older people and also people with:
- Sensory impairment (Visual and Hearing)
- Motor/mobility difficulties
- Cognitive and learning difficulties
- Mental health problems
- A first language other than English

It is recognised that, by limiting the sample and data collection to these groups, the findings may not be transferrable to other communities. However, the time and resource restrictions of the project meant that a focus was required in order to obtain insight of any depth or value.

DESIGN

The project adopted a pluralistic approach and comprised six overlapping data collection approaches. These were mainly qualitative in nature.

- An ongoing literature review to inform the emerging findings (December 2008-August 2009).
- A consultation with voluntary and community groups (January May 2009).
- Observation of public engagement events and consultations held by NHS Sheffield (December 2008 – May 2009).
- A small consultation with volunteers working with the PCT (June July 2009).
- A "critical friends" meeting with representatives from voluntary, local community and lay organisations working with NHS Sheffield (June 2009).
- A telephone consultation with NHS Sheffield staff (June August 2009).

Prior to any data collection from the public or PCT staff, the purpose of the service evaluation was explained and the voluntary nature of participation was made clear. Written notes were taken during all data collection stages and where possible any identifying information as removed.

Framework analysis methods were used to integrate and examine data from all stages (Ritchie & Lewis, 2003; Ritchie & Spencer, 1994). Framework analysis involves developing a thematic framework from *a priori* knowledge and early data. Emerging findings are then used to develop the framework and inform subsequent stages of data collection.

STAGE 1. LITERATURE REVIEW

An extensive web-based, literature search was undertaken. Sheffield Hallam University (SHU) and National Health Service (NHS) resources, PCT websites and search engines such as Google were used to access health and social care databases, policy and strategy documents. The search was limited to English language articles dated between 2000-2009. (Table 1).

The retrieved search articles and documents are categorised into two main sections Literature and Strategy and policy documents

To maintain the context of this study the titles and abstracts of papers highlighted in the search were screened by the Principle Researcher and member of the research team (MI). The articles excluded from further review included those exploring expert knowledge on specific, non-related areas, user involvement in research, purchasing specialist services, and article about clinical queries.

The articles and reports identified in the search were used to develop the context and are integrated into this report. A full bibliography of articles used from the search is provided at the end of the document.

TABLE 1: LITERATURE REVIEW DATABASES USED. SEARCH TERMS AND PARAMETERS

TABLE 1. LITERATORE REVIEW DATABASES USED, SEARCH TERMS AND PARAMETERS		
Context	Comment	
Electronic databases	 NHS evidence (formally National Library for Health) MEDLINE (EBSCO) MEDLINE (CSA) Cochrane Library Database CINAHL plus Web of Science Pub Med Google Search Engine. 	
Search terms	Public/user involvementEngaging hard to reach groups	

Context	Comment	
	Engaging/seldom heard groups in commissioning	
	Public/community involvement in health commissioning	
	Public engagement/involvement in health services	
	Community consultation in health services	
	Public engagement/participation in health care commissioning	
The context of terms	Hard to reach/seldom heard groups' engagement/participation in health care commissioning.	
	user involvement in health care services	

STAGE 2. CONSULTATION WITH VOLUNTARY AND COMMUNITY GROUPS.

SAMPLE

Two approaches were taken to identifying groups to participate in Stage 2. First, groups with a pre-existing relationship with the NHS Sheffield PPI team were identified through the PPI Team. In addition, an attempt was made to identify the groups not currently known to the PPI team. They were identified via staff in the Faculty of Health and Wellbeing at Sheffield Hallam University (SHU) and through Voluntary Action Sheffield (VAS). This strategy ensured inclusion of views from participants who are currently outside of NHS Sheffield's existing routine PPI consultations. They were recruited by members of SHU staff who work in the relevant specialist areas e.g. mental health and learning difficulties, and by the Healthy Partnership Team at VAS. In addition, groups currently engaged in work with the PCT were also identified by the PPI team and approached by them.

Some organisations were unable to participate within the timeframe and as a result participation from some groups was limited, for example, the visually impaired. It should be stressed that the aim was to recruit a range of organisations but not a representative sample. As such it is just a "snapshot" of views and caution should be taken regarding transferability of the findings. A few groups became known to the team during the course of the study. In some cases groups asked to participate and were keen to have their views considered. On a couple of occasions, the time restraints of the study meant it was difficult to accommodate this. The groups were directed towards the PPI team so that they could be included in future engagement events.

Consultation methods used here included group discussions with group members, small discussions with one or two staff or members of the group or discussions with public sector staff involved with the group or community of interest. The groups involved and consultation method used are summarised in Table 2. In addition to those listed in Table 2, a representative from

Healthy Partnership Team at VAS and the project Co-ordinator for the Health Champions scheme in Sheffield were also consulted.

TABLE 2: CONSULTATION PARTICIPANTS FROM VOLUNTARY AND COMMUNITY GROUPS

Group	Community of interest	Consultation Method and Participants
Speaking Up for Action (SUFA)	Learning Disabilities	Attended regular meeting for group and individual discussions. 14 users and 4 carers participated.
Deaf Advice Service Sheffield (DASS)	Sensory Impairment	Discussion with 2 staff from DASS. Group discussion with 9 deaf users of DASS (3 men, 6 women) plus 1 deaf observer. Deaf facilitator, sign interpreter present.
Sensory Impairment Team, Sheffield City Council	Sensory Impairment	One-to-one discussion with a staff member of the team.
Sheffield Fibromyalgia Society	Mobility, Mental Health	One-to-one discussion with a member. Group discussion with 8 members of SFS, (7 patients, 1 carer; 1 man, 7women)
Expert Elders	Older people	Group discussion with 5 members of the Sheffield Expert Elders Network (2 men, 1 woman), plus written comments from one woman who could not attend.
Strategic Commissioning and Partnership, Sheffield City Council	Older people	Discussion with 2 staff members in Sheffield Council.

Group	Community of interest	Consultation Method and Participants
Asian Elders Caring Society, Pakistani Muslim Centre	Language, mental health	Attended regular meeting for a group discussion. 15 male participants >60.
Somali Special Needs Scheme	Language, mobility, mental health	Discussion with 2 project workers. The Scheme provides the Somali community with homecare services to the elderly, disabled and housebound in Sheffield.
Yemani Mens Group	Language	Group discussion with 4 men, first language Arabic.
Yemani Community Centre	Language	One-to-one discussion with a community worker.
Somali Community Centre	Language	One-to-one discussion with a staff member.
Pakistani Community Association and Multi- cultural Advice Centre	Language	One to one discussion with 1 staff member
Sheffield Adult Mental Health Association	Mental health	Meeting/discussion with four members of a mental health user group
Inclusive Living Sheffield (ILS)	Mobility, Mental Health, Cognitive Difficulties, visual impairment	Discussion with 2 staff members Group discussion with 9 users and 2 staff from ILS

Group	Community of interest	Consultation Method and Participants
Multiple Sclerosis Therapy Centre	Mobility, mental health	Attended Therapy centre for one-to-one discussions with 8 service users.
Sheffield LINk (Local Involvement Network)	All	Discussion with the Chair and Co-ordinator
Sheffield Parkinson's Disease Society	Mobility	Discussion with a SPDS Committee member and Regional Officer.
Mental Health Citizens Advice Bureau and Advocacy Service	Mental health	Discussion with 1 staff member
Sheffield Women's Asperger Syndrome Group	Mental health	The groups discussed a number of questions at a routine meeting and provided written responses.

The discussions were semi-structured. They were conducted using a topic guide (Appendix 1) developed from the related literature and explored:

- The level and nature of existing public engagement by the PCT regarding commissioning
- How participants are currently involved in public engagement with the PCT regarding commissioning
- Views on how participants think the public should be engaged with the PCT regarding commissioning
- Ways in which the PCT website can improve public engagement in commissioning

STAGE 3. OBSERVATION OF CONSULTATION EVENTS

Fourteen consultation events organised by NHS Sheffield were attended by one or two members of the evaluation team to observe. These are listed a summarized in table 3. A pro-forma was

developed to help structure the observation (Appendix 2). Notes were taken using the pro-forma structure.

TABLE 3: OBSERVATION EVENTS

TABLE 3: OBSERVATION EVENTS		
Event	Description	
Intermediate Care Services Consultation, Zest, 9 December 2008	Public meeting as part of the Consultation to improve intermediate care services in Sheffield. Medical consultant and PCT staff member both gave a presentation and facilitated a discussion. 4 members of the public attended.	
Great Drink Debate, Howden House, 10th December 2008	2 PCT staff present in Howden House to discuss health issues related to alcohol with members of the public and ask them to complete the "Great Drink Debate" questionnaire.	
Stakeholder Meeting on Mental Health and Wellbeing, Sheffield United Football ground, 11th December 2008	Large consultation event to review a draft strategy, following on from an earlier event in February. NHS Sheffield partners with Sheffield First for Health and Wellbeing. Even tactually run by Sheffield Care Trust. Approximately 140 people participated. Format included presentations and workshops.	
Black, Minority, Ethnic (BME) Groups Mental Health Services Event (Colour of Health), Vestry Hall, Burngreave. 3rd February 2009	Stalls and presentations feeding back on ongoing community mental health/BME projects including Sheffield African Caribbean Mental Health Association and Breakthrough: Sheffield multi-ethnic drugs service. Attended by approximately 50 people.	
Chronic Fatigue Syndrome/ME service Consultation Day, St Mary's Bramell Lane, 4th February 2009	Consultation event attended by 50 people containing presentations, workshops and feedback sessions.	

Event	Description
Healthy Sheffield Launch, Ponds Forge. 26th February 2009	City wide event showcasing work of public sector, community and voluntary organisations regarding health. Mixture of stalls, presentations and workshops. Attended by >100 people.
Evaluation of learning disabilities (LD) expert patient programme (EPP), SUFA, 16th March 2009	23 participants including participants, health professionals and carers. Feedback and consultation format. Part of the evaluation of LD EPP.
Improving mental health services for people from BME groups, Sorby House, Spital Hill, 19th March 2009	Event aimed at local organisations interested in tendering. 15-18 people attended. Presentation session on 'Getting ready for World Class Commissioning', questions and answers about the tendering process. Useful resources distributed.
"Health Matters" Launch event, Burngreave, 16th April 2009	Part of the Enhanced Public Health Programme work. Event aimed to engage local people in promoting health and well being. Information about local groups, health services and activities in the area. Approximately 70 local people attended stalls and workshops.
Men's Health Event, ZEST, 21 st March 2009	22 men attended the event exploring emotional well-being and mental health service experience.
Disability Users Consultation Event, The Circle, 20th May 2009	Consultation event with 12-15 people with a range of disability, including learning and physical disabilities. Voiced concerns regarding existing services and recommendations to the PCT.

Event	Description
Volunteer Day, The Circle, 4th June 2009	The event was part of NHS Sheffield commitment to engaging with its local population to improve health and well-being. The purpose was to feedback to and consult with existing volunteers with NHS Sheffield. Approximately 34 people attended the day of presentations and discussions.
Warmth, Wealthy and Healthy Day, St Johns Memorial Hall Hillsborough	Run by Sheffield Housing Energy Action Team at the City Council. NHS Sheffield are partners. Community event with stalls and information provision. Attended by approximately 70 people during the day.

STAGE 4. VOLUNTEER CONSULTATION

A small number of volunteers were identified and recruited by the Volunteer Manager at NHS Sheffield. These members of the public were all involved in some way with different Expert Patient Programmes including those for adults with long-term illness and the supporting parents programme. The inclusion of volunteers in the sample allowed the exploration of the volunteer experience, links between volunteering and public engagement and potential for volunteers to support public engagement. The consultation with volunteers was conducted by telephone using an interview schedule. As with other components of the service evaluation, the purpose of the discussion was explained and only went ahead if the participant was in agreement. All were very willing to take part.

TABLE 4: VOLUNTEER PARTICIPANTS

Volunteer	Description	
1	Expert patient participant about 5 years ago then trained as a tutor. Involved in the Supporting Parents Programme. Involved in and supports PCT public engagement activity.	
2	Recent involvement in EPP after a stroke. Participated in one course.	

Volunteer	Description
3	Expert patient participant and recently trained as a tutor. Long term illness since industrial accident many years ago. Involved in public engagement activity with the PCT.
4	Involved with the EPP for about 7 years as participant and then tutor. Several long term health problems.

STAGE 5. CRITICAL FRIENDS CONSULTATION

The "critical friends" meeting was held in June 2009. The purpose was to discuss emerging findings from the first four stages of the study for completeness and accuracy. Six participants were identified and recruited from five organisations contacted in earlier stages. The number of participants was limited in order to promote more in-depth discussion. Participants were selected to provide a range of organisations, initiatives and perspectives that would have insight or experience of public engagement. The meeting lasted three hours. It was a structured discussion where the emerging themes were presented in turn. After each one, the participants were asked if this resonated with their experience and whether there was anything to add or recommend. In the interests of confidentiality, details of the participants have not been included.

STAGE 6. NHS SHEFFIELD STAFF CONSULTATION

As a final stage of the evaluation staff members from a range of Departments were asked to comment on the emerging findings. They were asked if the findings mirrored their experience, were encouraged to challenge them and to provide examples of good examples of public engagement and areas for improvement. In total 11 staff were contacted by telephone from a list of potential participants suggested by the PPI Team. The number of interviews were conducted during the summer holiday season and during the swine flu pandemic. Both factors limited availability of staff and the number of interviews conducted.

TABLE 5: STAFF CONSULTATION PARTICIPANTS

Department	Number
Public Health	3
Strategy and Strategic Development	4
Communications	2
Patient and Public Involvement	2
Total	11

FINDINGS

Despite the breadth and range of people who took part, there was a great deal of agreement across the participants about the nature of the public engagement (PE)¹ activity with seldom heard groups (SHGs)² conducted by NHS Sheffield. Overall there was an acknowledgement that great progress had been made in recent years. Impressive improvements had been made despite the fact that NHS Sheffield is a relatively new organisation, formed following the merger of four smaller PCTs. Participants agreed that there was no easy answer to the question of how to conduct genuine and purposeful engagement with seldom heard groups, but they did provide useful ideas and insight.

However, some challenges did exist, including overcoming the legacy of previous unsuccessful public engagement activity, cultural barriers and partnership working across public and community settings. With regard to many of the issues of concern that were identified during the consultation, there were examples of how NHS Sheffield has started to address them. There are illustrations of how the PCT has started discussions or strategic responses to overcome the problems and challenges involved in constructive engagement with seldom heard groups.

It is resoundingly clear that NHS Sheffield is ahead of the game in terms of public engagement when looking at the National picture. When comparing feedback from this evaluation with the findings of The Picker Institute (2009) NHS Sheffield are achieving well. Like other PCTs there is as sense that World Class Commissioning (WCC), and the PPI expectations within WCC, have prompted organisational change and boosted the status of engagement. However, NHS Sheffield is not alone in seeking new ways to engage seldom heard groups. A common difficulty for PCTs is "overcoming the difficulties of engaging 'hard to reach' / 'seldom heard', minority and disadvantaged groups and communities" (The Picker Institute, 2009). Some of the issues and recommendations of the participants of this evaluation are mirrored by the participants of the national survey, with a call for more creative, participatory, collaborative and targeted approaches to engagement with SHGs.

The views, experiences and recommendations of participants have been analysed and are reported here in six themes; credibility, consultation, collaboration, capacity, communication and culture, and finally commissioning. These are not discrete, as elements within the themes overlap and interact with those in others. This serves to illustrate how complex an activity public engagement is. It is worth remembering that the purpose was not to report findings as representative of communities in Sheffield, but rather to use this evaluation as a way to identify issues, raise questions and make suggestions for the future.

¹ Public engagement is subsequently referred to as PE.

² Seldom Heard Groups is subsequently referred to as SHGs

It had been the initial intention to map the themes generated by this evaluation to the elements of the Department of Health's recently published engagement cycle (2009). However, following the analysis of participant's views and experience an alternative approach has been taken. The six themes listed above apply throughout the cycle of World Class Commissioning. Instead it is suggested here that they are the core elements of a successful engagement culture and should underpin the systems to support engagement, especially with SHGs. It is therefore proposed that the "6Cs" of credibility, consultation, collaboration, capacity, communication, and creative commissioning should be placed in the centre of the E-cycle and the culture of NHS organisations.

CREDIBILITY

As stated above, feedback from this evaluation indicated that public engagement activity had improved since the creation of NHS Sheffield. A step difference in terms of "intention and action" was reported indicting increased credibility of NHS Sheffield in terms of PE activity. Examples of progress includes the new website (de Normanville et al, 2009) that clearly signposts the public to new and past PE activity and attempts to make the organisation and its decision making more transparent. In addition the continually growing and diverse volunteer programme was viewed as a positive vehicle for PE, as was the *Introduction to Community Development and Health Training* course.

Prior to the formation of NHS Sheffield PE experience was mixed, from the positive to very negative. There was a view from the participants that NHS Sheffield was becoming a more transparent and open organisation with a genuine desire to develop new and improved methods of engaging with the communities they served. However, those consulted recommended that past mistakes were recognised, addressed and processes were in place to ensure they were not repeated. If this was not done, they considered it would threaten PE with those currently contributing and would not facilitate engagement with those from SHGs.

There was consensus regarding past problems with PE and they were summarized well in one discussion with a community group. The prevailing view was that in the past PE had faltered because:

- it was not always clear exactly why a consultation is occurring, sometimes because of lack of information or the language use;.
- it was not always clear exactly what people are being consulted about, and what is really "up for change". For example in the past people had different expectations regarding potential action from a consultation e.g., services closed, opened or relocated. People may have false expectations about the impact of the consultation;
- of impressions that organisations "cherry-pick" what they want from PE and don't reflect the breadth of issues and concerns raised;
- a concern exists that in the past the big decision has been made already and the consultation is about the detail. People have had expectations unrealistically raised about what would happen as a result of the PE;

- what was being consulted on did not always match what was important to the people being
 consulted. The PCT and public were seen to have different agendas especially people from
 seldom heard groups (SHGs). The PCT was seen to be driven by money and targets, the public
 are by their needs and experience of services;
- a lack of necessary support or resource to enable someone to participate in PE e.g., a sign
 interpreter present at a consultation or meeting where a member of the public with hearing
 loss was expected to contribute; time and support to interpret papers and information
 necessary to complete a survey or participate in a meeting; transport support where an
 underlying medical condition created mobility problems preventing attendance at a meeting³;
- where people had struggled to get access to health care, this was demanding enough and did not facilitate participation in PE activity;
- it was not always clear who was accountable for interpreting findings from PE and for making subsequent decisions;
- there was a lack of feedback on what had happened since the consultation and what recommendations from the consultation have been acted upon;
- participants had not been thanked!;
- there had not been enough time built into the PE process for people with disability or communication problems to respond;
- there was a growing over-reliance on website communication and technology. Many people, including those from seldom heard groups do not or can not use the Internet; and
- there is a lack of recognition on how existing local organisations working with SHGs successfully engage with their communities, despite lack of funding and resources

The public and staff participants recognised potential to address the above points and the time was seen to be right to do this. Many of the issues discussed below address how this can be done. However, participants thought that if this was not done there was a risk of greater cynicism developing with an inevitable disengagement from PE activity. It was recommended that time was built in to do this otherwise attempts may be unsuccessful.

CONSULTATION VS CREATIVITY

A core concern of participants about the ability of NHS Sheffield to develop PE with SHGs was the current over-reliance on consultation as a method of engagement. This experience was also reflected nationally in the report from the Picker Institute (2009). The term "consultation overload" was used by participants from all sectors including the public and staff within

³ It should be noted that NHS Sheffield do provide transport and communication support to enable PE, however some participants cited past examples where this help had not been accessed or available.

community, public sector and NHS organisations. Various understandable reasons were provided to explain this. These included:

- Top down drivers direct the focus and direction of PE e.g., it is driven by policy requirements or linked to the PCTs targets and monitoring activity.
- There are demanding deadlines and a lack of time to conduct PE. This can lead to a reliance on more familiar approaches and formats to PE that are quick to enact.
- Systems and structures are not in place to support new and creative approaches to PE and to
 easily harness the skills and expertise of people across the organisation and outside of the
 PCT.

It was noted that, even in the period of this evaluation, progress was being made by NHS Sheffield in overcoming these challenges. For example, despite the enormous pressure on the organisation from the swine flu pandemic, the PPI, Communications and Public Health teams had worked collaboratively with their community partners and community development links to inform people from diverse and isolated communities, including SHGs, of the health risks and actions to take regarding swine flu.

When talking to individuals and groups from the SHGs who were the focus of this evaluation, they reported a lack of skills and confidence to participate in consultation based PE activity. This was sometimes compounded by a lack of ability to participate because of their underlying condition. At times the pressure of living with the underlying condition, (such a fibromyalgia, a profound hearing loss or mental health problem) and its health and social consequences, meant PE was just not a priority. This meant that more participative methods of PE were required that relied less on consultation and more on developing and empowering communities and the individuals within them. Unless methods can be found to conduct PE in a way that not only generates information for the organisation, but also develops the necessary skills and builds the capacity of those from SHGs, there is a risk that the experiences and needs of these communities will not be represented. There is also a need for ongoing monitoring of identifies barriers and obstacles to engagement.

Approaches that develop capacity in communities in terms of confidence and skills include community development approaches. There is considerable community development expertise within NHS Sheffield in departments such as Public Health. A recommendation made by some staff participants was to develop more proactive ways of planning PE that harnesses community development approaches and skills from across the organisation. One suggestion was, in addition to existing work, NHS Sheffield could identify a few priority areas for PE a year and work in a systematic and planned way, harnessing appropriate expertise from across the organisation.

There is recognition within NHS Sheffield, reflected in their strategy, that there is no one way of conducting PE, especially with SHGs, but a need to use a combination and tapestry of methods, techniques and approaches. As suggested by Picker (2009), PE with SHGs requires:

- Developing better collaborations with those organisations and key individuals placed within the communities you wish to engage with and
- Developing more participatory methods of PE that also improves capacity within the community.

Both these responses mean moving away from consultation based methods of engagement that are conducted and controlled by members of staff within NHS Sheffield.

The range of recommendations made by those who contributed to this evaluation include the following:

- Invest in methods of PE that develop skills and capacity of people in SHGs and communities of interest and where confidence may be low. Examples of such methods include:
- Story telling workshops
- Community reporter schemes
- Have joint planning and facilitation of PE events with the service provider/PCT working in equal partnership with a member of a community or related organisation.
- Develop method of real time engagement as close to health and social care service delivery as possible.
- Develop and invest in PE methods where communication occurs in peoples home.
- Adopt approaches that consider PE a process not on event and avoid "one-off" consultations where possible.
- Interest in the Internet and related technology Web 2 tools may be misplaced. It may appear an easy solution to including people from SHGs but it not the answer for all. There are, for example, generational differences in who does use or is willing to use Web 2 tools.

COLLABORATION

If NHS Sheffield is to overcome barriers to PE with SHGs, it is not possible to do it alone. Existing collaborations are growing between NHS and the public sector and community organisations. However, another recurrent theme from the findings here was the need for more collaboration at various levels; within the organisation, with the Local Authority and within the community. There was a call for better joint planning, joint strategies and a need to exploit one another's knowledge, expertise, systems, intelligence better for joint benefit.

INTERNAL COLLABORATION

Regarding better internal collaboration, this has been addressed above, in relation to the use of expertise, skills and knowledge of the broader organisation to support PE. NHS Sheffield is still a young organisation and it takes time to identify the varied and diverse resource that can be of

benefit to PE. Progress was being made and examples provided of PE collaborations between strategic development, public health, communications and PPI departments in the areas of muscular-skeletal conditions, care needs of the homeless and swine flu.

It was also suggested that different departments could help PE in very practical and tangible ways. For example, public health staff could offer advice on wording of survey tools to overcome communication barriers experienced by people who did not speak English as a first language. The Enhanced Public Health Programme (EPHP) supports community development and community driven initiatives to address health inequalities in 15 deprived Sheffield communities. People who work with the EPHP have extensive community networks and links. They have great insight and knowledge that can inform the structure and format of PE in a way that is accessible to SHGs. There is evidence that this is happening, but also a suggestion that it could occur in a more structured, systematic and planned way.

There is a large and growing volunteer workforce that NHS Sheffield can collaborate with to facilitate PE. A success of the new organisation is the developing volunteer workforce and infrastructure to support this. A wealth of opportunities are available to people including participating in consultations, the *Expert Patient Programme*, attending the *Introduction to Community Development and Health* Training, sitting on patient panels, strategy and planning committees and the Advisory Panel, Clinical Audit Panel, and becoming a Health Champion. This evaluation revealed some collaboration between the PPI team and volunteers. Volunteers were able to use their excellent links to communities of interest that the PPI team want to reach, including SHGs. However, a question was raised about how reactive this involvement was and whether there was potential for this to be more planned and systematic. There are plans to develop a strategic approach to linking volunteering with PE within the organisation. Such collaboration would be a welcome and useful development.

COLLABORATION WITH THE LOCAL AUTHORITY

Some participants reported that in some areas there was very effective joint working between the PCT and Local Authority. Collaboration in PE occurred in places, especially at a higher strategic level and at grass roots level. Examples of this were in the engagement activity with children and young people and older adults. However, there was a concern that this was not always the case. The risks were that organisations may unnecessarily repeat PE, impair credibility with the public and waste staff resource. Both the Local Authority and NHS Sheffield do a lot of PE work but they do not always involve one another in the planning, conduct, dissemination and application of findings. There was a call to improve this collaboration through:

- More joint posts at a strategic and middle management level e.g. LA and PCT.
- Strategies to share information systems and data. Both organisations collect vast amounts of
 routine data that could be valuable to identify people in SHGs and their needs as well as their
 use of services. Whilst there are data protection issues to overcome there is potential to
 explore more knowledge management across organisations to support PE with SHGs.

COLLABORATION WITH COMMUNITIES

As stated above, there was a move towards more participative methods of PE, rather than consultation based methods. This means PE can be regarded more as a process and less as independent one-off consultation events. With a move towards participative approaches, comes more genuine partnership and collaboration, earlier in the process.

The message from participants was that community groups and representatives need to be more involved in the planning and conduct of PE, rather than just called on to participate. They are able to advise on how to conduct PE in a way that is open, assessable and acceptable to people from communities seen to be "hard-to-reach". Community and voluntary groups may be trusted by people from SHGs and have extensive networks with individuals within the communities. This means the groups not only provide great insight into the community, they also have access denied to PCT staff. Two potential approaches are open to the PCT:

- Work more collaboratively, earlier on in the process, to plan and deliver programmes of PE jointly between community organisations and NHS Sheffield.
- Contract out aspects of PE work to community organisations. This could be of particular benefit where the community of interest or SHG is not geographically based or has a practical or cultural barrier to participating in PE.

CAPACITY

Various constraints on capacity have placed limitations on PE in the past in a variety of ways. This evaluation has highlighted a number of these constraints that need to be overcome in order to enable PE with SHGs to flourish. Issues related to capacity fall into two areas, i) NHS organisation and staff, and ii) communities and seldom heard groups.

Regarding staff, the issue of time and resource has already been touched upon. It is clear that NHS Sheffield have staff with considerable experience in PE. They have a PPI team who, are a dedicated and strive to conduct credible and purposeful PE. However, if PE with SHGs is to expand in a purposeful way the contribution of the whole organisation needs to be considered.

The impression from this evaluation is that in the first 18 months of the life NHS Sheffield much of their PE work has been focused on establishing the basic infrastructure to support PE and conducting top-down, policy and target driven consultation. They have been successful in doing this and have achieved much in a short time. In order to support this work and develop PE to incorporate the views of SHGs, the capacity of NHS Sheffield can be developed in a number of ways, some of which have already been raised.

• Scope the expertise and skills required to conduct participative and community development approaches to PE in SHGs. Identify where the expertise is available from within the

organisation. Develop ways to work more systematically across departments within NHS Sheffield that have the skills and knowledge to support PE.

- Where necessary skills are not available from within the organisation develop partnerships and knowledge transfer schemes with external organisations.
- Develop a strategy to formalise the links between volunteering and PE.
- Explore the potential for joint working across NHS Sheffield, Local Authority and community organisations, including joint posts, secondments and work placements.
- Develop better knowledge management systems to collate and disseminate learning from PE.
 For example, identify how to establish a repository of information on PE that could be kept to inform subsequent projects, services, or priorities on:
 - Ways of conducting PE with certain communities
 - Key messages and findings from previous consultations/involvement.

For communities, the issue of capacity to engage relates once again to time and resource. For some of the communities we spoke to there were what appeared to be insurmountable barriers to participating in PE as currently conducted. For example, members of SHGs may need more time to read, understand, translate information, and participate in process, need more time to respond and may need resource in terms of translation, interpretation, support. If this is not provided, the risk is that members of these communities may be excluded by default, not by intention. An example of this is where a community or advocacy group is sent a batch of PE questionnaires to circulate to users of their service or group. However, without time to sit down with potential respondents to interpret and explain the questions, the person is unable to participate. If the community organisation has limited resources, and their priority is to provide a support, advice or advocacy intervention, this interpretation does not occur. Here, there is no intention to exclude people from SHGs, but it occurs anyway.

Much of the discussion with the public in this evaluation focused around consultation, as this was the majority of the PE experience and activity. However, there were a few examples illustrating the challenge for people involved in more ongoing PE, for example, sitting on a service strategy and development group. Problems were highlighted about lack of provision of information prior to meetings in a way that was accessible and understandable to someone with a communication or language problem and recognition of the time it would take to decipher the necessary papers.

The second issue here, also raised previously, is about skills and confidence to participate in PE. An experience commonly reported was that there was a lack of knowledge of PE opportunities. If people from SHGs did know about them, they assumed the opportunity was not open to or accessible to them. Reasons for this included:

- A lack of underlying knowledge about the health issues involved.
- A lack of experience and confidence speaking in public.
- Mobility or communication problems.

- Low levels of self-esteem and self-efficacy.
- Inability to get transport or interpretation.
- Inability to understand information about the event and what it involves.

These substantial issues identify a need for investment in developing the capacity and ability of people from SHGs to participate in PE. By conducting more of the same consultation based activity, it will be difficult to overcome existing barriers to PE with SHGs. More participatory methods of PE such as storytelling, do offer a way of developing capacity as well as generating information. However, it may be advisable to invest in preparatory work first. For example, the deaf participants suggested NHS run health road shows for particular communities of interest that would provide information, start a dialogue in an unthreatening manner, provide adequate language and communication support and inform about further PE and volunteering opportunities.

COMMUNICATION AND CULTURE

Many of the issues relating to capacity and collaboration, also link with communication and culture. The participants who said they felt unable to access PE activity also reported knowing very little about what was available. For example, none of the groups we met with had seen the new *Prospectus of Volunteering* published by the PCT. Whist they reported that the range of opportunities were impressive, they had known little or nothing about them. A concern was raised that the document was a little too like a 'university prospectus' and whilst informative, may be off-putting and daunting to someone with low literacy and low confidence.

This indicates that new ways of communicating with the public are required. The new Website has evaluated well. Electronic communication has and does open up engagement of some individuals but for those who do not use such technology it does not address communication barriers. This is a continually challenging area for development and one that NHS Sheffield appears to be addressing. A recurring comment was that there should not be an over-reliance on technology or web-based communication strategies.

During the course of this evaluation restructuring and investment has taken place to embed communications more firmly in the engagement and standards work of the organisation. This will enable the expertise of the communications department to be better employed in overcoming some of the barriers to PE expressed by the participants. Such barriers, cited by participants of this evaluation, include the overuse of jargon, feedback of findings in wordy, overlong formats, and an overreliance on the Internet.

Many of the suggestions made by the participants are already being employed by NHS Sheffield. For example there is more evidence of staff "going out and being seen" in communities and using informal and formal networks of other PCT staff.

There was also a concern from some quarters that nationally driven restructuring of public sector services and organisations reflected a tendency to "go big". This threatened a sense of community and would create potential challenges for the NHS in conducting PE work. For example they cited the fact NHS Sheffield had been a merger of four smaller organisations to one city wide Trust, poly-clinics were replacing community based GP surgeries, and local assemblies were replacing local panels. The view was that this threatened community communication.

Participants recommended that, to be successful, PE has to work from within a culture, rather then "parachuting in". As indicted above this will require developing closer collaborations and partnerships, and in developing capacity within communities to play a role in planning and conducting, as well as participating in PE. Community organisations can provide support, translation, interpretation, transport and support for consultations but also work in more equal partnership in developing and delivering participative methods of engagement.

Community organisations and other participants called for PE to move more towards a social model rather than medical. Without this change it would be difficult to generate genuine engagement with SHGs. Amongst the concerns raised many related to cultural communication and language. Taking a more social approach will help to identify these issues in the planning and development stages, rather than too late in the process. For example, currently people from communities from a predominantly verbal rather then written culture struggle to contribute to PE. In addition, some of the PE and consultations cited have been charged with being "too conceptualized". The consultation questions were thought to be too, broad, and impossible to answer.

CREATIVE COMMISSIONING

Participants were asked to consider how PE activity should be conducted in the future in order to promote involvement of SHGs. A number of fairly fundamental suggestions were made by those who took part that relate to commissioning decisions and activity. They are reported here, but it should be made clear that these are not recommendations. They are merely presented as suggestions for discussions based on participants views. It was suggested that NHS Sheffield could consider the following:

- Whether some of the funding used for consultations could in the future be use to develop the
 infrastructure to support PE generally and with SHGs specifically. Such investment and
 infrastructure included developing networks to represent communities of interest and SHGs,
 better knowledge management systems to prevent duplication of work and store learning
 from PE for the future.
- The potential to commission the development, implementation and evaluation of new, creative methods of engagement that may be delivered by external organisations with participative expertise. Examples include story-telling and community reporters' schemes.
- The potential to commission out PE work to groups with good networks and established trusting relationships with SHGs and communities that are hard for the PCT to reach. Local

charities and community groups can help but they are vulnerable – especially in current economic climate. There may be potential for local organisations to conduct some PE work for NHS Sheffield and to be contracted to do so. Advantages include better access to communities, build capacity within communities, empower, develops infrastructure and generates funding for local organisations. Challenges include how this could be contracted and monitored. Some participants raised a concern that organisations may not respond favourably to this as it would change their identity. They may lose the sense of independence and see themselves as part of PCT.

- The need to scope the nature of Service Level Agreements already held between NHS Sheffield and voluntary/community groups and local charities. For example where there is a contract for the local organisation to conduct advocacy work with a SHG. Where the organisation is required to provide monitoring data is it possible to explore the potential to expand this requirement to include generating patient experience data to inform PE? This could be more in-depth or varied than patient satisfaction and could be qualitative in nature.
- The amount and type of community development resources required to reflect communities of interest, not just geographical area. Area based initiatives have made a difference in terms of addressing health inequalities linked to deprivation. However, an unwanted consequence of this type of investment and working may be that can exclude communities of interest. Some of the SHGs involved in this consultation are not geographically based. If communication, community development and other supportive infrastructure focuses exclusively on area based approaches there is a risk some SHGs will be further excluded from PE activity.

RECOMMENDATIONS

APPROACH

- 1. Continue the development of Public Engagement (PE) approaches that recognise past mistakes and builds processes to ensure they are not repeated
- Develop participative methods of PE that generate information for NHS Sheffield whilst
 developing the skills and capacity of those from Seldom Heard Groups (SHGs). Implement
 joint planning and facilitation of PE events with representatives from the community and
 related organisations.
- 3. Develop methods of real-time engagement as close to health and social care service delivery as possible.
- 4. Adopt a social model of PE rather than medical to generate genuine engagement with SHGs.
- 5. Adopt approaches that consider PE as a process and avoid "one-off" consultations where possible.
- 6. Balance the use of Web 2.0 tools with other forms of PE activity to ensure all sectors of the community are not excluded owing to lack of intranet access etc.

SKILLS

- 7. Scope the expertise and skills required to plan and conduct participative and community development approaches to PE in SHGs, identifying where the expertise is available from within NHS Sheffield.
- 8. Develop ways to work more systematically across departments within NHS Sheffield that have the skills and knowledge to support PE.
- 9. Develop partnerships and knowledge transfer schemes with external organisations, where the necessary skills are not available from within the NHS Sheffield

COLLABORATION

- 10. Develop a strategy to formalise the links between volunteering and PE.
- 11. Explore the potential for joint working across NHS Sheffield, Local Authority and community organisations, including joint posts, secondments and work placements.
- 12. Develop better knowledge management systems to collate and disseminate learning from PE.

COMMISSIONING

- 13. Consider the suggestions made by participants related to commissioning decisions and activity:
 - Use some of the funding allocated for consultations to develop the infrastructure to support PE generally and with SHGs specifically.
 - Explore the potential to commission the development, implementation and evaluation of new, creative methods of engagement that may be delivered by external organisations with participative expertise.
 - Explore the potential to commission out PE work to groups with good networks and established trusting relationships with SHGs and communities that are hard for the PCT to reach.
 - Consider the need to scope the nature of Service Level Agreements already held between NHS Sheffield and voluntary/community groups and local charities and how the data collected could be used to support PE with SHGs.
 - Review the amount and type of community development resources required to reflect communities of interest, not just geographical area.

REFERENCES

Blake G, Diamond J, Foot J, Gidley B, Mayo M, Shukra K, Yarnit M. (2008) *Community engagement and community cohesion*. [Online] at http://www.jrf.org.uk/publications/community-engagement-and-community-cohesion Last accessed August 2008

Blakey, H (2005). *Participation – Why Bother? The Views of Black and Minority Ethnic Mental Health Service Users on Participation in the NHS in Bradford*. International Centre for Participation Studies. Bradford.

Department of Health (2009) *The engagement cycle: a new way of thinking about patient and public engagement (PPE) in world class commissioning.* [Online] at: http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH 098658. Last accessed August 2009.

Department of Health (2008a) High Quality Care for All. Department of Health. London.

Department of Health (2008b) World Class Commissioning: Competencies. Department of Health. London.

Department of Health (2007) World Class Commissioning: Vision. Department of Health. London.

Department of Health (2006) *Our Health Our Care Our Say: a new direction for community services*. Department of Health. London.

Department of Health (2004) Standards for Better Health. Department of Health. London.

Doel, M., Carroll, C., Chambers, E., Cook, J., Hollows, A., Laurie, L. and Nancarrow, S. (2007) Developing Measures for Effective Service User and Carer Participation. Social Care Institute for Excellence. London.

Entwistle VA. (2009) Public involvement in health service governance and development: questions of potential for influence Health Expectations. *Health expectations : an international journal of public participation in health care and health policy* 12(1);1-3

Farrell, C. (2004) *Patient and Public Involvement in Health: The Evidence for Policy Implementation*. A Summary of the Results of the Health in Partnership Research Programme. Department of Health. London.

Felce, D., Grant, G., Todd, S., Ramcharan, P., Beyer, S., McGrath, M., Perry, J., Shearn, J., Kilsby, M. and Lowe, K. (1998) *Towards a Full Life: Researching Policy Innovation for People with Learning Disabilities*. Butterworth Heinemann. Oxford.

Kramer R. (2008) Towards World Class Commissioning? New Approaches to Service Delivery for People Facing Social Exclusion. *Journal of Integrated Care*. 16(3):3-7.

de Normanville C, Tod AM, McClimens A, Ismail M. (2009) *User Evaluation of the NHS Sheffield Website*. Sheffield Hallam University. Internal Report for NHS Sheffield

Morris G. (2009) Toolkit for engaging seldom heard groups. NHS Sheffield. Sheffield.

National Association for Patient Public Participation and NHS Alliance (2006) *Effective Practice-based Commissioning: Engaging with Local People.* [Online] at www.networks.nhs.uk/uploads/06/04/engaging_with_local_people.pdf Last accessed August 2009

Parliament House of Commons (2006) *National Health Service Act (2006)* Available on: http://www.opsi.gov.uk/acts/acts2006/ukpga 20060041 en 1. Accessed November 2009

Picker. (2009) Patient and public engagement – the early impact of World Class Commissioning. On http://www.pickereurope.org Last accessed June 2009

Pickin C, Popay J, Staley K, Bruce N, Jones C, Gowman N. (2002) Developing a model to enhance the capacity of statutory organisations to engage with lay communities. *Journal of Health Services Research Policy*. **7**:34-42. doi:10.1258/1355819021927656

Richardson, A. (1983) Public Participation. Routledge. London.

Ritchie J. Lewis J. (2003) *Qualitative research practice*. London. Sage. Ritchie J. Spencer L. O'Connor W. (2003) Carrying out qualitative analysis In: Ritchie J. Lewis J. (eds) *Qualitative Research Practice* London. Sage 219-262

Ritchie J. Spencer L. (1994) Qualitative analysis for applied policy research. In A. Bryman and R. Burgess (eds) *Analysing Qualitative Data*. Routledge. London. pp 173-194

Wait S. Nolte E. (2006). Public involvement policies in health: exploring their conceptual basis. *Health Economics, Policy and Law,* **1**:149-162 doi:10.1017/S174413310500112X

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Alborz A. Wilkin D. Smith K. (2002) Are Primary Care Groups and Trusts Consulting Local Communities? *Health and Social Care in the Community*, 10. 1: 20–7.

Baggott R. (2005) A Funny Thing Happened on the Way to the Forum? Reforming Patient and Public Involvement in the NHS in England. *Public Administration*, 83. 3: 533-551

Barnes M. Newman J. Knops A. Sullivan H. (2003) Constituting the Public in Public Participation', *Public Administration*, 81. 2:279–99.

Begum N. (2006) Doing it for themselves: Participation and Black and Minority Ethnic Service Users. London: Social Care Institute for Excellence. [Online] at http://www.scie.org.uk/publications/reports/report14.pdf Last accessed April 2009.

Bracknell Forest Borough Council. (2008) *Commissioning strategy for adult mental health 2008-2013*. [Online]at http://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/ Last accessed March 2009

Branfield F. Beresford P. Eamon P. Andrews J. Chambers P. Staddon P. Wise G. Williams-Findlay B. (2006) *Making user involvement work: supporting service user networking and knowledge*. Joseph Rowntree Foundation [Online] at www.jrf.org.uk Last accessed March 2009

Carr S. (2004) Has Service User Participation Made a Difference to Social Care Services? London: Social Care Institute for Excellence. [Online] at http://www.scie.org.uk/publications/positionpapers/pp03.pdf Last accessed May 2009

Coleman A. Glendinning C. (2004) Local Authority Scrutiny of Health: Making the Views of the Community Count? *Health Expectations*, 7: 29–39.

Cook D. (2002) Consultation for a Change? Engaging Users and Communities in the Policy Process. *Social policy and administration* 36. 5:516-531

Davis R. Jacklin R. Sevdalis N. Vincent C. (2007) Patient involvement in patient safety: what factors influence patient participation and engagement? *Health Expectations*, 10. 3:259-67.

Department for Communities and Local Government. (2008) *Communities in Control: Real People, Real Power*. [Online] at

http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/communities/pdf/886045.pdf Last accessed April 2009.

Department of Health. (2008) *Real involvement: Working with people to improve health services.* [Online] at http://www.dh.gov.uk/. Last accessed April 2009.

Darzi. (2007) *National Health Services Next Stage Review Interim Report*. [Online] at http://www.dh.gov.uk/. Last accessed April 2009.

Department of Health. (2001a) *Involving Patients and the Public in Healthcare: a Discussion Document. London.* [Online] at:

http://www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/@dh/@en/documents/digitalasset/dh_088803.pdf Last accessed March 2009

Florin D, Dixon J. (2004) Public involvement in health care. British Medical Journal. 328:159-161

House of Commons Health Committee (2003), House of Commons Health Committee Patient and Public Involvement in the NHS. Seventh Report of Session 2002-03, HC 697 [Online] at http://www.parliament.thestationery office.co.uk/pa/cm200203/cmselect/cmhealth/697/697.pd f. Last accessed April 2009.

Hernandez L. Robson P. Sam A. (2008) Towards Integrated Participation: Involving Seldom Heard Users of Social Care Services. *British Journal of Social Work*, doi 10.1093

Hogg C. (2007) Patient and public involvement: What next for the NHS? *Health Expectations*, volume 10.2:129-138

Hogg, C. and C Williamson. (2001) Whose Interests do Lay People Represent? Towards an Understanding of the Role of Lay People as Members of Committees', *Health Expectations*, 4:2–9.

Improvement and Development agency. (2008) Reaching out community engagement and health. On http://www.idea.gov.uk. Accessed June 2009.

Jones T, Newburn T. (2001) Widening Access: Improving police relations with hard to reach groups. Police Research Series Paper 138. [Online] at http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/rds/prgpdfs/prs138.pdf Last accessed June 2009.

Kalathil, J. (2008) Dancing to Our Own Tunes: Reassessing Black and Minority Ethnic Mental Health Service User Involvement. London: National Survivor User Network (NSUN) report. [Online] at http://www.survivor-research.com/images/reports/nsun_report.pdf. Last accessed March 2009

Kramer R. (2008) Towards Involving people in the design and delivery of services. *Journal of Care Services Management*. 2. 4:368-377.

Kearney M. (2004) Walking the walk? Community participation in Health Impact Assessment. A qualitative interview study. *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*, 24. 2: 217-229

Lambeth Primary Care Trust. (2008) *Commissioning strategy plan report on full public consultation*. [Online] at http://www.lambethpct.nhs.uk/documents/374.pdf. Last accessed May 2009.

Lapsley P. (2004) Public involvement in health care; Public involvement is needed at highest level. *British Medical Journal*. 328:462 NICE. (2008) *Community engagement to improve health*. Public health guidance 9 [Online] at http://www.nice.org.uk/nicemedia/pdf/PH009Guidance.pdf Last accessed May 2009.

Office of Public Management. (2006) *Healthcare Commission Patient and Public Engagement test sites project: Key Lessons for LINks*. [Online] at

http://www.nhscentreforinvolvement.nhs.uk/docs/Healthcare%20Commission%20EAPs%20final %20report.pdf. Last accessed May 2009.

Picker. (2007) *Patient and public involvement in PCT commissioning*. [Online] at http://www.pickereurope.org. Last accessed June 2009.

Parliament House of Commons (2007) *Public Involvement in Health Act 2007*. [Online] at http://www.opsi.gov.uk/acts/acts2007/pdf/ukpga 20070028 en.pdf. Last accessed March 2009.

Ray K. Hudson M. Campbell-Barr V. Shutes I. (2008) *Public officials and community involvement in local services*. [Online] at http://www.jrf.org.uk/sites/files/jrf/2248-governance-community-engagement.pdf. Last accessed May 2009.

Robson P, Sampson A, Dime N, Hernandez L, Litherland R. (2008) Seldom heard: Developing inclusive participation in social care (Position Paper 10), London: Social Care Institute for Excellence. [Online] at http://www.scie.org.uk/publications/positionpapers/pp10.pdf Last accessed May 2009.

Rutter D, Manley C, Weaver T, Mike J. M J Crawford, Fulop N. (2004) Patients or partners? Case studies of user involvement in the planning and delivery of adult mental health services in London. *Social Science & Medicine*. 58, Issue 10, 1973-1984

Social Care Institute for Excellence. (2006) *Creating sustainable communities: Supporting independence. Consultation Response*. [Online] at http://www.scie.org.uk/publications/consultation/supportingpeople.pdf. Last accessed May 2009

South Central Primary Care Trust Alliance. (2008) *Patient and Public Engagement toolkit for World Class Commissioning*. [Online] at

http://www.institute.nhs.uk/images//documents/wcc/PCT%20portal/PPETOOLKITwithlinksFINAL.pdf. Last accessed May 2009.

South J. (2006) Rising to the challenge: a study of patient and public involvement in four primary care trusts. *Primary Health Care Research and Development*, 5. 2: 125-134.

Tod, A. and Brookes, E. (2007) *Knowledge Exchange: Report to Sheffield Primary Care Trust*. Sheffield Hallam University.

Tritter J Q. McCallum A. (2006) The snakes and ladders of user involvement: Moving beyond Arnstein. *Health Policy*, 76. 2:156-168.

Watt S. Higgins C. Kendrick A. (2000) Community participation in the development of services: a move towards community empowerment. Community Development Journal, 35. 2:120.

Whitnell S. (2004) *Successful Interventions with hard to reach groups*. Social Inclusion Policy Branch. [Online] at http://www.hse.gov.uk/research/misc/hardtoreach.pdf. Last accessed May 2009.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX 1 TOPIC GUIDE FOR CONSULTATION WITH VOLUNTARY/COMMUNITY GROUPS

The engagement of seldom heard groups in commissioning health services:

Sheffield PCT consultation

Topic Guide for consultation with voluntary/community groups

The Sheffield Primary Care Trust is interested in finding out what the public think about 4 things:

- What are the health needs of Sheffield people?
- What health services should be provided in Sheffield?
- What are the most important services?
- How can services be improved?

We want to know whether you think this sort of discussion with the public is useful and how it should happen.

Hand out PCT leaflet

- 1. Have you heard of the PCT?
- 2. Do you know what they do?

The PCT wants to communicate and engage with the people of Sheffield in order to help them decide:

- What are the health needs of Sheffield people?
- What health services should be provided in Sheffield?
- What are the most important services?
- How can services be improved?
- 3. Have you ever been involved in giving your opinion about what you like or dislike about health services in Sheffield:

Prompts:

Which service?

How did you give feedback?

Have you seen changes as a result?

4. Do you think it's important to ask the people of Sheffield about this?

Why?

5. How should the PCT do this?

Prompts:

Show the spectrum of involvement and ask what is the right level generally and for them.

Public involvement continuum



Minimum involvement involvement

Maximum

Giving	Getting	Forums for	Participation -	Partnership -
Information	Information	Debate -	Acting	Supporting
(eg the PCT	(eg Patient	Deciding	Together	Local
patient	Surveys)	together	(eg Expert	Initiatives
prospectus)		(eg Patient	Patient Tutors	(eg Local Health
		Panels)		Forums)

6. What would be the best way for the PCT to communicate with you and your group/organisation/community?

Prompts:

open question and then explore examples e.g. written communication, consultation groups, community events, local representatives / advocates / links, IT e.g. Internet, blogs, etc

- 7. Have you had any contact / communication with the PCT?
- a) Why?

Prompts:

- What was the reason for the communication?
- What motivated you to communicate?
- b) Who was it with and who initiated contact?
- c) How?
- Prompts:
- What was the nature of the contact?
- Was it successful/useful?
- What was achieved?
- 8) Would you like to be involved in communication, engagement with the PCT in the future?

Why?

9) Key issues about how to engage with SHGs

- Continuous involvement not one off consultation
- Allow sufficient time SHG may need longer to participate
- Don't start from the beginning each time
- Develop capacity and confidence
- Work in partnership:
- Strategy
- Data
- Engaging
- Let communities lead or run engagement,
- Develop staff capacity
- Franchise out responsibility to engage to voluntary and community groups
- Feedback

Could we have got this information in a better way?

Any other comments?

APPENDIX 2: CHECKLIST OF ISSUES TO CONSIDER WHEN OBSERVING A PCT CONSULTATION EVENT.

Checklist of issues to consider when observing a PCT consultation event.

Comment on:

- The nature of the event and processes used with description
- The appropriateness of the approach and processes

Advertisement:

- Where
- How
- What media?

Venue:

- Accessible,
- Central,
- Transport,
- Costs,
- Catering

Recruitment:

- The usual suspects?
- Open or invite only

Type of event:

- What is the purpose of the event
- What type of event
- Is it appropriate to the purpose?
- Is it a one off or part of an ongoing process
- What will happen to the findings?

Attendance:

- Who
- How many
- Mix of users / carers / professionals
- Diversity of attendees age, gender, demographic, ethnic, seldom heard groups
- Did the people attend that the PCT wanted to attend?

PCT presence:

• Who is running the event - PCT, lay representatives?

• Who is present from the PCT e.g. seniority within the PCT?

Public involvement continuum

Where did the event lie on the PCT continuum of public involvement?

If the event is part of a bigger process or piece of work, where does the whole project lie on the patient involvement continuum?

Ten steps to involvement

The principles of public engagement that the PCT follow are encompassed in the 10 Steps model.

Is it clear that the 10 Steps have been considered in planning and running this consultation event?

For further information please contact:

Dr Angela Mary Tod Principal Research Fellow Centre for Health and Social Care Research Sheffield Hallam University Montgomery House 32 Collegiate Crescent Sheffield S10 2BP +44 (0)114-2255675

a.tod@shu.ac.uk

ISBN 978-1-84-387318-1 October 2009





Evaluating the engagement of seldom heard groups in commissioning health services.

TOD, Angela, DE NORMANVILLE, Clare, MCCLIMENS, Alex http://orcid.org/0000-0001-6601-9781

Available from the Sheffield Hallam University Research Archive (SHURA) at:

http://shura.shu.ac.uk/8388/

Copyright and re-use policy

Please visit http://shura.shu.ac.uk/8388/ and http://shura.shu.ac.uk/information.html for further details about copyright and re-use permissions.